DOWNTOWN
FORT LAUDERDALE

ITS DEMISE AND
RENAISSANCE IN THE
POST-WAR ERA

With the end of World War IT in 1945,
Fort Lauderdale residents turned to the
future with high expectations, for their
city had grown and prospered as few
others during the conflict, Fort Laud-
erdale had wenthered the Great
Diepression better than many commun-
Il.LL"bI ]H!L'JHJ!‘L" E‘I.I.rl'l'.i.ll'lH, H:“] 1 '\l'i.ll.l:ll-l.'
industry, provided sustenanece for
redidents, while an expanding tourist
trade brought visitors and revenue. By
the late 1%i0s, new construction and
reteil outlets dotted the downiown
sector which centered on Andrews
Avenue from the New River to imme-
dimtely north of Broward Boulevard
and stretehed From Ihl: F]{rﬁdu Eust
Coast Railway Station east to Federal
Highway 1. During Waorld War 11, Fort
Lauderdale had hosted thoozands of
members of the armed forces. Between
1940 and 1945, the city's population
climbed from 17996 to an estimated
26,000, and soared five vears later to
36,328, as many wartime visitors and
soldiers returned as permanent resi-
dents. The removal of wartime restric-
tions on the prodoction and distriba-
tion of construction materials and
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consumer goods, and the presence of
a populace eager to spend after years
of privation, unleazhed a building and
spending frenzy that affected every
elernent of the city.!

Growth and change manifested
themselves in a myriad of ways in the
postwar vears. In dewntewn Fort
Lauderdale, long the economic heart
of the city, this new boom was at first

18950 to the present day.

Dopwntown Fort Lauderdale, historically the city's “heart,” shared in the
wave of pregperity whick swept Broward Cownty and much of Florida
following the end of World War IL fronically, thiz same explosion of
pn;.-_.'l.l:llﬂfl'{ilr:l, canstruction, ard rn;,l"fa'r would, within a decede, send fhe gt
into a prolonged period of decline, The growth of suburbs and subsequent
decline of downdown as o refeil area wae a widespread phenomenon in
postiwar Americe, byt one which wase intensified in Broward County by
the magnitude of the region's population growth and by an almost total
dependence on the automobile for local transporfation. The story of
downiown Ford Lesderdale's deterforetion and subsequent efforis for
revifalization forms one of the most iniriguwing and significant chapters
in the cily's recent history, one whick hes occupied the aitention of
businessmen, public officials, the press, and the general public from the

Dr. Parl 5. Gearge, Iirector of the Historic Broward Cornty Preservation
Board and professor of history al Floride Allentle University and the
University of Miami, is also knawn as "the walking histortan of southeast
Florida" for hiz popular walking tours of a number of Broward and Dade
Counties” historic sections, ineluding downtown Fori Lawderdale. This
article is an adaptatiion of porfions of D, George's manuseript, "Broward's
Flagship City: Fort Lauderdale, 1945-1990." the final volume in a three
part comprehensive survey prepared for the Preservation Board.
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reflected by increased prosperity and
vitality. In suceeeding yvears, however,
increased automobile traffic and
mu.'ltmmarl-:mg needs and the expan-
gion of both population and commer-
cinl development into outlving areas
of the city and surrounding suburban
communities threatened and eventu-
ally destroyed the district's commor-
cial preeminence,

Ag Fort Lauderdale catapulted into
the ranks of Florida's most important
communities and the center of one of
the state's most dynamic coanties, its
downtown, ironically, endured four
decades of decline, punctuated by
redevelopment efforts of varying
degress ofau-:ceas and failure, Only in
recent years has the resuwrgence of
downtown Fort Lauderdale been
assured,

Fort Lauderdale embraced cightesn
and one half square miles of territory
in 1845, In the early postwar years,
settlement pushed out in three direc
tions — west from the Atlantic Ocean
to within reach of the Seaboard Air
Line Railroad tracks, south to State
Road 84, and to the north, where some
residents lived bevond Tenth Strest
iSunrise Boulevard), but considerably
below the looping south fork of Middle
River.? This gmw:h impemm‘! new
demands upon a city unprepared for
them, Citizens demanded more hous.
ing, schools, additional police protes.
tion, new roads and bridges, a better
water supply, and an improved sani-
tation system. Traffic problems in
particular plagued the downtown
district in the years immediately
following the ¢nd of the war?

Fort Lauderdale’s first postwar
mayor, Harold Holden, deseribed the
city's growing automobile congestion,
especially in the tourist season, s
dearth of downtown parking, and
traffic bottlenecks at the approach to
bridges. He warned that downtown
congestion required immediate action
gince the sector was in danger of
strangling on its traffic. In 1947,
Holden spoke of a problem that would
bedevil the nation’s urban centers:
"Modern automobile transport has
super-impm&d I!!m.l'ﬁ-l.: fOn our streefs
designed for the horse and buggy.'™
Helden argued for off-street parking in
downtown Fort Lauderdale, buat the
city, instead, chose to place parking
meters along its main thoroughfares,
thereby adding to the growing conges-
tion. Nowhere was traffic more con-
gested than on those portions of
Andrews Avenoe and the Federal
Highwuy that spanned the New River,
The Andrews Avenue bridge was
thirty years of age and in danger of
condemnation in the late 19405, before
the I:'i.t'_',' commenced constroction of
new bridge. The fourth span at this
crossing, the new structure was molded

from steel and concrete. Broader and
stronger than its predecessors, it
contained four lanes for teaffic.®

While construction was underway on
the bridge, Powell Brothers, the con-
tractors for the project, built a tempoe-
ary ponteon bridge at Southwest First
Avenue. It was employed briefly,
because the Andrews Avenue bridge
was completed in nine months, at a
cost of 8482000, The bridge opened in
Oetober 1949, relieving congestion: it
remained in operation until 1979, The
county named the new span the H. C.
Davis Memorial Bridge for the veteran
engineer who had designed it.5

The bridge crossing the New River
at the Federal Highway presented even

;l

. W

more sericus problems than the span
at Andrews Avenue. Built in the mid-
1920%, this low, narrow, wooden siruc
ture stood in the upright position for
hours daily, sometimes causing mile
long backups on the Federal Highway,
In the postwar period, this portion of
the Federal Highway acquired a rep-
utation as the “worst botileneck of
II. 5 1 from Maine to Florida™7
Business leader Emmett McTigue
remembers that just a few vears enrlier
the absence of traffic had permitted
him to ride his bicyele along the center
of the Federal Highway — without his
having to grip the handlebars ®
Because of the frequency of bridge
openings, the cily commission in 1945

et

3 i .
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Above is the H. C. Davis Bridge under construction at Mew River and
Andrews Avenue, 1849, Below is the temporary pontoon bridge at
Brickell (Southwest First) Avenue, which served as a substitute crossing
during construction.
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Preliminary deawing of the ULS, Highway 1 tunne]l under the New River,
This view, prepared in 1948, faces south with Las Olas Boulevard in

center foreground,

directed the city manager to take
whatever steps necessary to limit them
toone every half-hour. In the following
year, several persons organized the
MNew Hiver Boatmen's Association to
solve such problems as “unnecessary
bridge openings.’™

For many, however, more radical
measures were necessary. As early as
1940, discussion had begun over the
prospects of constructing a tunnel
beneath the river at the Federal High-
way crossing. In the postwar period,
tunnel advocates grew lowder in thelr
demands. The city employed a consult-
ing firm in 1948 o make preliminary
plans for tunnels under the New River
at Federal Highway, as well as under
the Intracoastal Waterway at East Las
Olas Boulevard and Scoutheast Seven-
teenth Street. The Florida State Road
Department also became interested in
tunnal crossings, and engaged its own
consulting firm which recommended a
tunnel at the Federal H'ighwu.y nnd
Mew River, but ruled against the
proposed Intracoastal tunnels,
Finally, in 1960, a tunnel under the
Mew Hiver at Federal Highway opened
to vehicular traffic.!®

Human as well as automotive con-
gestion was evident in downtown Fort
Lavderdale in the immediate after-
math of the war, In 1945, the Fort
Lavderdale Chamber of Commerce
proposed o new city hall to roplace the

cramped structure that had served the
community ginee its infaney. After city
leaders adopted the idea, the electorate
was asked to cheose a new city hall
from three proposed locations; it
gelected a tract at Worth Andrews
Avenue and Third Street. Upon vacat-
ing the old city hall in 1948, the city
moved its operations temporarily into
the second floor of the Dowdy Building

.
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at Broward Boulevard and Southwest
First Avenue. Employees found this
new facility cramped and somedimes
redolent with the nroma of food arizing
from the grocery and restaurant that
nmupi.cd the firgt Moor. 1!

While the city was preparing its new
home, Burdine's department store,
gouth Flerida's premier emporinm,
decided to open an outlet in Fort
Lauderdale. For vears, city leaders had
coveted a Burdine's store for Fort
Lauderdale; for even longer residents
had journeved to Miami to shop in
Burdine's. In 1946, Burdine’s por
chased the vacant city hall site fram
1.]14_' C'il:.y af Fort Lauderdale for
22500060, after a traffic survey indi-
cated that it steod at the busiest
intersection in the city. In May 1946,
demolition crews razed the old city
hall, and construction commenced on
the new Burdine's store. The store
opened in the following year, and
would serve & generation of customers,
Many Fort Lauderdale residents
ghared the sentiments of Cecil Farring-
ton, a prominent Fort Lauderdale
attarney, whoe maintained that, “When
Burdine's eame to Fort Lauderdale,
that's when we became a city."12 The
downtown store closed in 1980 when
Burdine's opened & new store at the
Galleria Mall on East Sunrise
Boulevard. 13

In the meantime, construction eam-
menced on the new city hall in 1947,
In the following wear, the city com-
pleted the handsome one-story struec-
ture at a cost of $338,850, and cccupied
it in April. In addition to other city
offices, the police and fire departments
oecupied the building considered large
encugh to serve the city for many
yveara. Within three years of its open-
ing, however, the city hall was

The Fm'! Lauderdale City Hall on North A.ndmws Avenue, s‘hnrllar after

ite 1948 completion.
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crowded; in the mid-1950s, it received
its first addition.

Although the new city hall was a
pleasant venue for municipal
employees, it was plagued briefly by
a contretemps: the restroom windows
contained one-way glass, which was
reversed when it was installed, therehy
preventing employvees from seeing ouat,
as it was designed todo, while allowing
persons on the sidewalk outside to aee
in. Upon discovering the problem, the
city gquickly rectified 1,14

Downtown  business  boomed
throughout the late 19408 In 1949
downtown retailers experienced an
increase of eighteen percent in busi-
ness over the figures for the previows
vear. Along with the spening of Bur.
dine's and the construction of a new
city hall came the appearance of other
new businesses and the growth of more
established institutions, such as Sears,
MeCrory's, and Woolworth's, Montgo-
mery Ward opened a small outlet nesr
the United States Post Office on
Southeast Second Avenuve. Appliance
and furniture stores, along with groc
ery outlets, appeared throughout the
I-E"Elﬂ'l.'.m

AR DTy NAtTe Tt cra Tt
ferdale Daily Ne e city's lone
daily, enaE[:eﬂ_ﬁFl.a abandon its label
as "another countey daily."tT Gore
tranaformed the newspaper plant on
Southeast First Avenue and Morth
New River Drive into a medern facility
with the addition of more floor space
and state of the art equipment. Gore
also took control of WFTL Hadio, the
county's first rndio station, and con
the structure at Southenst First
Avenue and Las Olas Boulevard that
had housed the Pioneer Department
Store and the wartime Serviee Men's
Center into the Radio Center Building
for his radio operations. In 1948, Gore's
WGOR-FM, a sister station of WFTL,
commenced operations,®
Downtown's hotels and apartment
houses remained fully cccupied during
the winter season, while the sector’s
Sunset and Florida theaters were
usually crowded with patrons, Stran-
phan Poark was a favorite area for
socializing and recreational activities
for tourisizs and residents alike. 19
Mightclubs operated in many parts of
Fort Lauderdale. Downtown, the Fed-
eral Highway, Andrews Avenue, and
Korth New River Drive were popular
venues for this fare. Most clubs offered
dinner and dancing to live music, Some
included more exotic entertainment. =

Financial institutions and busi-
nesses born in the previous decade also
exhibited striking growth after the
war, Drganized during the Great
Depression, Fort Lauderdale's First
Mational Bank (renamed the Land-
mark First National Bank in 1970)
quickly outgrew its original guarters

after the war, prompting a move to a
new building on East Las Olas Boule-
vard and Third Avenue in 1948, By
then, the institution had embarked on
a course of aggressive lending to help
develop the area. Recognizing the
growing importance of accomodating
the automohile, the bank offered
“Drrive-in Teller Service, 2!

Even a catastrophe considered
Broward County’s greatest nataral dis-
aster made no permanent inroads on
the great expansion of the late 19403,
In the fall of 1947, two hurricanes with
high winds caused heavy downpours
and severe llooding in Fort Landerdale
and other parts of the county, The
second storm deposited eleven inches
of rain on Fort Lauderdale in less than
three hours, causing the New River to
gpill aver its banks and submerge the
downtown in twoe feet of water.
Andrews Avenue was especially hagrd
hit, with high waters entering many
stores along the thoroughfare. The
rains washed away large segmenis of
other gtreets as well, Fort Laoderdale
reguired several weeks to dry itself aut,
and damage estimates were placed at
£1.3 million. =

Although brief when messured in
wvears, the second half of the 1940s
marked a watershed in the history of
Fort Lauderdale. Despite a bewildering
wvanety of new demands pla upomn
the city by explosive, sustained
growth, city officials and dewntown
businezsmen looked forward Lo con-
tinwed economic and physical expan-
sion and progperity.

Helped by the huge population
migration to the area, sustained
prosperity, and a white-hot economy
centered on real estate and tourism,
Fort Lawderdale began to assume the
contours of 8 metropolitan centerin the
1850%. Tts papulation rose to 33,648 by
1860, placing it among the nation's
fastest growing cities. By the end of
the 19508, 750 families were moving
into the city each month. Broward
County shared a similar story., The
county's population soared from 83,933
in 1950 to 4E431 by decade's end,
During this era, ten new Broward
municipalities gained charters of
ineorporation. Ironically, this expan-
give decade also witnessed the in-
ning of the decline of downtown Fort
Landerdale, =

Perhaps the most dramatic change
brought by the new decade was the
enormous proliferation of new subdi-
visions and shopping centers. The
lnrgest and most suecessful of several
significant Fort Lauderdale real estate
developments in the 19508 was Coral
Ridge, which arose in the city's north-
east sector. Other areas of the city
offered a wide variety of subdivisions
and home prices ns well, By the mid-
19508, homes in areas of northwest and

southwest Fort Lavderdale were sel-
limg for 38,000, while those in Rio Vista
and Coral Ridge fetched 315,000 to
£20,000. Elaborate apartment build-
ings in the Birch Estates, northeast
Fort Lauderdale, and Nurmi Isles were
commanding prices of $100,000,% Fort
Lauderdale Beach also represented
key center of development. Character
ized by one observer as o family
destination at the outset of the decade,
il became a great commercial resort by
the end of the decade.®

Retail businesses expanded across
the city too, especially with the open.
ing of the Gateway, Sunrise, Westgate,
and Plaza Center shopping centers in
newly developed areas of Fort Laud-
erdale. Sunrise, the most ambitious
and successful of the early shopping
centers, attracted several nationally
prominent stores, including Jordan
Marsh and Saks Fifth Avenue. A
portion of East Las Olas Boulevard
directly east of downtown underwent
a beautification campaign during the
1950z, with the planting of palm trees
along its center. By the end of the
decade, bonotiful black olive trees
graced the parking lots located just off
the street, and moeny buildings had
been redesigned in the Spanish Eclee
tie or Mediterranean Revival archites.
tural style, giving East Las Olas
Boulevard a place among Florida's
maost beawtiful retail districts. =

Downtown, Burdine's, which
remained the city's premier depart-
ment store, emboarked on a multi-
million dellar expansion, taking over
the building north of it on South
Andrews Avenue while constructing
an addition on the site of its parking
lot on Soathwest First Avenoe®™ Mot
every downtown business continued to
prosper, however, Hepresentatives of
the city's charter fishing fleet, a
popular teurist draw since the 1920s,
complained of a sharp decline in
business. Moreover, downtown retail-
ers felt keenly the competition from the
new shopping centera with their unlim-
ited free parking and close proximity
to growing suburban population
centers, ™

Indeed, through most of the 19505,
downtown Fort Lawuderdale groped for
wavs o mest the challenge of compe-
tition from the new shopping centers
on the perimeter of the city, Downiown
merchants requested additional park-
ing arcas, and the city responded by
converting such sites as the old Florida
East Const Railway station just west
af the tracks inte a parking lot (the
raillway had built a new station in
Croissant Park south of the Mew
River). Mew parking lots and garages
appeared elsewhere in the sector. In
addition to Burdine's, other businessoes
instituted improvements to their sur
roundings. The long-slumbering Brow-
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Mid-1860s view of the Fort Lauderdale municipal parking lot, located
on the site of the old F.E.C. Railway depot.

In the ll?lﬁlh and "80s, new shopping centers su.ch ns Carul Ridge, seen
in this 1962 photo, drew much retall business away from downlown
{photo courtesy of Bmith Aerial Photography, Ine.).

ard Hotel, now empty most of the year,
underwent extensive remodeling =
Fart Lauderdale's explosive popula-
tion growth and development con-
tinwed during the 1980s, overshadow-
ing evervthing else as they remained
the dominant themes in the city's
history, Between 1960 and 1970, Fort
Lavderdale’s populstion increased by
mare than seventy-five percent, reach-
i 129,500 by decade's énd. The dec
ade marked the last great population
surge for the city as settlement was
pushing out againat its borders. City
planners estimated in 1967 that eighty-

five percent of Fort Laoderdale was
developed, The great population explo-
ston in Broward County was already
shifting to a growing area of commun-
ities around Fort Lauderdnles ®
Beeling under the Night of shoppers
to suburban shopping centers, down-
town's decline had become acutely
apparent by the mid-1950s. The intrac-
table problems of traffic congestion
and limited parking, the seasonal
nature of the city's retail business, the
loss of o large base of shoppers follow-
ing the decline of the residential area
west of the Florida East Coast Railway

trocks, nnd the relocstion of the fishing
fleet and luxury wachts, which had
traditionally attracted large nombers
of pesple, away from the vicinity of the
Andrews Avenue bridge, all contrib-
uted to this decline. By 1963, more than
1% downtown stores sat vacant, and
Fort Landerdale High School, a main-
sty of the sector since s apening in
1915, hivd abandoned its old facility for
new quarters elsewhere®

At first, Fort Laoderdale reacted
slowly to the decay at its core. In 1960,
Mayor Edwin Johns was unable to
decide “whether we want to(undertake
urban renewal) or not. It neesds a lot
of atudy.”""™ In the following wear,
however, three separate groups were
working to revitalize downtown, The
Fort Lauderdale Downtown Buziness
Council, with 130 members, lobbied for
redevelopment, offering its “'Park and
Shop'” plan as a step in this direction.
Under the termas of this plan, shoppers
would receive free parking for up to one
hour in cooperating parking lots, The
Council also called for the return of the
fishing flects, luxury yachis, and tour
haats to that segment of the Mew River
that meanders to the south of the
downtown, The Downtown Council of
the Greater Fort Lavderdale Chamber
of Commerce focused on traffic
improvements and beautification pro-
jects, The Chamber's Planning and
Community Development Council, a
third group woerking for the improve
ment of the city's core, advecated long
term planning to catalyze a major
transformation of downtown. By then,
the city had defined the area targeted
for redevelopment. It extended from
Broward Boulevard on the north to the
Mew River on the south, Ninth Avenue
on the west to the Federal Highway
on the ease.®

In the early 19608, the city commis-
sioned a Memphis consulting firm to
create o plan for the revitalization of
downtown, The city unveiled the plan
in 1964, Ambitious and vistonary, it
called for the construction of high-rise
apartments, pedestrian mall and over-
pass, riverfront park, and nightclubs.
The cost was set at 330 million, with
the federal government paying two-
thirds of the sum, and the city the
refmaining one-thied.

Soon after the appearance of the
revitalization plan, 250 residents
signed a petition opposing federal
funding for the project. O ne-nta
averred that the scheme an ro-
posed funding arrangement smac
of "creeping socialism.™ The commis-
sion ultimately decided against the
plan. In the wake of its decision, Mayor
Edmund Buorry declared that “The
people in Germany followed Hitler,
People can be misled, If federal nided
renewil wins all over the eountry, you
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Downtown Fort Lauderdale in the early 1960s. Note one-way traffic
on Andrews Avenue in this view looking north.

won't have a country in fifteen
Years. *®

In 1865, the city proposed another
scheme for downtown revitalization. It
called for a 325 million complex that
would include a thirty-five story apart-
ment house building, and a twenty-one
foor moter hotel on the site of the old
Fort Lauderdale High School, This
plan was also jettisoned, prompting
the Downtown Business Councl, des-
perate to stem the continuing decling
of downtown, to search for new, more
rodical selutions, Fort Lauderdale's
city atlorney suggested the creation of
a gpecin] improvement taxing district
and a Downtown nqvclnpmenl
Auathority (DAY to govern the region,
The DDA would possess the power of
eminent domain. It alzo could issue
general obligation and revenue bonds,
acquire and dispense property, own
and aperabe transit facilities, and
AsRess Laxes, S

Created in 1965 by o special act of
the state lugi.'«:]ﬂlu TH:, the Downtown
Development Authority recelved jurs
diction over 200 acres of land north of
the Mew Biver. Soon after its creation,
the DDA ordered a Central Avea Study
by architect Victor Green. Completed
in 1967, the study became the DDA’S
General Plan for Downtown Fort
Lauderdale and its blueprint for revers-
ing the area's decline. As the 1960s
unfolded, additional state legislation
reshaped the Downtown Development
Authaority. A apecial act of the Florida
Legizslature on June 18, 1965, catalyzed
creation of the DDA’s present conati-
tution, imbuing it with specific power
to provide for rehabilitation, clearance,

redevelopment, and revitalization of
glums and blighted areas in the tar-
geted downtown sector in accordnnes
with the authority's plans.

The act alsoextended the boundaries
of the Specinl Taxing District to
ificlude the area north of Mortheasts
MNorthwest Second Street. The full
flowering of the DDA's efforts came
with the ambitious construction pro-
gram that swept downtown in the late
19705 and 1980z, In the meantime,
downtown languished, becoming, to
paraphrase President Lyndon B. John-

at:-:n_'s irritating comment on the
nation's prospects in the Vietnamese
War, worse before it got betber,™

While revitalization as a whaole
seemed stagnant, certain individual
projecis provided sparks of hope for
downtown through the otherwise
gloomy years of the lnte 1960s, In 1967,
the city commenced sonstruction of an
eight story, 32.1 million ety hall on
Mortheast First Street and Andrews
Avenue, Dedicated in 1969, this “mad.
ernistic” structure brought together
under one roof many city departments,
The building™s “nerve center” was
located on the first and second floors,
where the iy commission chambers
and the offices of the city manager and
city attorney stood,® During this same
period, the First National Bank of Fort
Lauderdale purchased the site of the
old Fort Lauderdale High School,
resolving a long-standing problem
over the disposal of that valuable
property,

Closely tied to emerging redevelop-
ment efforts, although inspired by
different motives, waos the rise of
historic preservation nctivity, A grow-
ing fear by many concerned residents
that the “new"” Fort Louderdale was
obliterating the old had led to several
efforta to preserve the city's past,
including the creation of the Fort
Lauderdale Historical Society in 1962,
The first formal preservation activity
came in 199 with the formation of the
Faort Lavderdale Historic Preservation
Counecil, Ine, The Council’'s primary
ohjective was the acquisition of his-
torie builldings. The organization
targeted the Mew River Inn as its firse
project. From these beginnings
emerged the historie preservation

The 18057 King-Cromartie House, moved to the north side of the New

Riverin 1971,
to downtown,

came a centerpiece of the city's historic distriet adjacent

14 = Broward Legacy



——— :4—- : pE—

Towering above the city’s skyline, the Landmark Bank building,

complete
Lauderdale.

movement of the 1970z and 19808,
involving a small group of concerned
citizens fighting a rear guard action
against the formidable forces of devel-
opment. Understaffed and under-
funded, historic preservationists
remained, nonetheless, resolute in
their determination to preserve ele
ments of old Ford Lauderdale. Their
victories ciume 5]|:|1.-.r|._'|.', but each accom-
plishment added to the precious but
fragile hertuge of their city 40

In the 19970s and 1980s, nomerons
new trends and developments brought
significant change to Fort Lavderdale.
For the first time gince it8 incorpora-
tion in 1911, the city's population
growth stagnated, tourism changed in
character, and Fort Louderdale's
fomed bench declined markedly, This
era nlso witnessed the siriking revital-
tention of dewntown and the eity's
corresponding emergence as a strong
financial center.

Coming after decades of sonvualsive
growth, the population slowdown was
aurprising. Whereas the population
figure stood at 139590 im 1970, an
increase of nearly eighty percent over
the total for 1960, the number ten years
Imter was just 152,279, Even more

in 1871, beeame n symbol of the “new” downtown Fort

surprising was the fact that the pro-
jected population figure for the final
vear of the 19805 was 150,681, This
development stemmed from the fact
that the cily's settlement patterns had
pushed out even farther ageinst s
barders sinee the 1060, Fh_:mrrdi.ngly.
by the 1980z, Broward County's [re
netic growth was confined almost
exclusively to the suburbs surrounding
Fort Lauderdale where land was plen-
tiful and housing more affordable.
Growth figures in Broward County
underline this trend, The county con-
tined BE046 residents in 1960; this
figure jumped to 620,100 ten wyears
later, and to 1,018,200 in 1980, The Fort
Lauderdale-Hollywood metropolitan
ared (SMEA)Y was the fastest Enm‘lng
of the nation’s fifty largest metropol-
itan areas in the 1970s. Broward
County’s population reached 1.3 mil-
lion im 1990, These figures indicate the
obwious; Broward County and other
regions of southenst Florida were, hy
the century’s final decades, among the
fostest growing arens of the United
States

In thisera, Fort Lauderdale retrieved
sorme of its past, as well as plunging
aptimistically into the future. Most

remarkable of all was the impressive
revitalization of downtown. The DDA,
the chief engine of revitalization, was
gtill searching for its first major
“victory™ as the 1970s dawned, That
milestone came at the outset of the new
decade with the announcement by the
First National Bank of Fort Lauder-
dile that it would boild a twenty-eight
story financial center on 12.7 acres of
land that had earlier hosted Fori
Lauderdale High School. The bank
envigioned the structure as the locus
of finance and commerce in Broward
County. The building would also
include a plazn designed to serve as
a center for sociml and community
motivities, By the time the bank broke
ground for the structure in 1970, it had
alrendy leased seventy-five percent of
its office space to an impressive list of
clients. 2

On the south side of the New Hiver,
across from downtown, the Maxwell
Arcade, a boom-era structure which
had been reduced to skid row status,
underwent a reincarnation in the early
19708. A private developer trans-
formed the complex into a Mediter-
ranean-style village with provigions
for shepping and artists’ quarters.
Severnl tenants quickly sighned leases
for spaces in the complex. 9

In the meantime, the DDA had sald
£9.5 million in bonds for the purchase
of six blocks (twelve acres of land) in
the middle of downtown between
Andrews and Southeast Second
Avenue and Southeast First Street and
Las Olas Bouwlevard. The Authority
proposed to raze all of the structures,
primarily older homes and stores, to
prepare the land for redevelopment. By
1974, the DDA had cleared the twelve
acres in & modern day version of o
“seorched carth” policy. While nwait-
g redevelopment, the cleared land
$I_"1"|-'I_‘|C[ h:mpl:r::rﬂ;; AaE A [.ll'l.rh: with
tennis courts and surface parking. The
core of a vibrant city had been
expunged. In agsessing the redevelop-
ment area at this juncture, one is
reminded of Gertrude Stein's seorching
indictment of Oakland: “There is no
there there, "4

With the area ready for redevelop
ment, DDA unveilled s plans for
construction of the massive Mew River
Center by the Rouse Company, a
prominent developer of urban malls.
The DDA envisioned a complex feat-
uring a shopping mall with 130 stores,
civic center, maring, and other attrac
tions. Parking would be available on
both sides of the New River, with a
monormil carrying people noross the
stream,

The DDA lavnched an ambitious
publie relations campaign to persuade
voters Lo approve 516 million in
general obligation bonds for constrac-
tion of the civic center portion of the
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project, which would consist of two
main buildings connected for educa-
tional and cultural events, The electo
rate, however, defented the ambitious
bond issue. Shrugging off this defeat,
representatives of the DDA announced
that they would proceed with the
project anyway because, “We intend to
have m eivie conter in oF near
downtown," =

The recession of the mid-1970s
delayed the redevelopment of down-
town. By then, a Bousedeveloped
shopping mall was no longer consi-
dered feasible, The DDA, howewver,
continued to acquire and clear land
downtown, The Authority received a
gignificant boost from the Gore news-
pirpeer interests, which announced, in
1975, a £13.8 million construction amd
improvement project for its plant near
the New River, A three year building
program followed, highlighted by
construction of a new plant in the same
locale 7

The Goreowned Governor's Club,
downbown's premier hotel and meeting
place for nearly forty vears, expe-
rienced the opposite fate. With few
permanent residents, the aging hos-
telry announced its elosing in the mid-
1970z, By then, Robert H, Gore, Sr.,
was dead and the city and county
power brokers had deserted the Gow-
ernor’s Club for the twenty-seventh
Moor of the new Landmark First
Mational Bank building. In 1976, the
county leased the Governor's Club for
office space, and it eventually became
the home of several government
departments,

Throughout the first half of the
19708, the DDA remained steadfast in
ita plana to revive downtown as a
major retail center, although Burdine's
represented the quarter's lone “status"
store. In 1977, however, the Authority
announced a broader vision of down-
town through its creation of a new
masterplan for redevelopment. In
addition to new retail facilities, the
plan envisioned office buildings for
financial and governmental institu-
tions, housing, and park space along
the river o

Soon after the appearance of the
masterplan, however, the DDA recog-
nized that downtown was unlikely to
return as a major retailing center
because of the popularity of shopping
malls, an increasingly smaller residen-
tial base from which to deaw, and the
perennial problem of parking in that
quarter. Accordingly, it redirected ita
efforts toward transforming down-
town inte the new financial, govern-
mental, and cultural heart of Broward
County. Within o few vears of embark-
ing on this path, DDA's new sirategy
appeared to be succeeding, for down-
town showed strong signs of emerging
ag the county’s governmental amd

Workmen transform the downtown Burdines store into the Broward
County Governmental Center in August 1983, Across Andrews Avenue,
in the top right corner of this photo, is the county's main library building,
also under construction (photo courtesy of Smith Aerial Photography,

Ine.j.

financial hub. By then, several signif-
icant structures had been completed
or were advaneing toward that
milestone, ™

The construction of the Federal
Courthouse on East Broward Boule
vard and Second Avenue was, in the
words of William Farkas, DDA s exee
utive director, the project that
launehed the Authority on the road
toward “the rale we set out to "
a8 the governmental nnd financial
capital of Broward County.™ Farkas
believed that downtown must first
become the governmental headquar
ters of the county before it could
develop as the county's civie and
cultural “guts,"™ Clearly, the down-
fown area was growing; 4 survey in
1979 indicated that 14,000 persons
worked downtown, an incrense of 4,000
in just one year 5

The 1950z signalled the full matura-
tion of downtown ag o financial and
civie center, It also marked the end of
major retailing in the gquarter, when
Burdines departed im 1980 for new
guarbers in the Galleria Mall on East
Sunrise Boulevard and Federal High-
way. After Burdines' departure, the
county acquired the downtown prop-
erty, and spent severnl million dollars
converting the former store into the
Broward County Governmental Cen-
ter, which contains the offices and
chambers of the county commission as
well as most of the depariments of
government,™

The 1980s brought & long string of
successes for downtown redevelop-
ment. In the early part of the decade,
officials of the Broward County public
school system announced their intens
tion of building new administrative
headguarters downtown. In the mean-
time, groundbreaking took place for a
new art museum, ?ibra.r:.r_ parking
garage, and office building in an area
framed by Andrews Avenue and
Boutheast Second Avenue, and South-
east First Street and Las Olas Boule-
vard, the same area purchased,
cleared, and transformed into & fem-
porary park by the DDA the previous
decade, Pleased with its string of
successes after critics had accused it
of moving too slowly, the DDA
explained its downtown sirategy as
“leveraging,” or building a govern-
ment facility in order to encourage
private development in the sector,®

Downtown emerged as a financial
and governmental center because of its
central location, its close proximity to
major thoroughfares and highwavs,
the relatively reasonable price of
property in the quarter, and the DDA’s
suceegaiul promotional campaign. As
the 19808 progressed, downtown's
steady redevelopment convineed many
private developers to build there,
Increasingly, it was seen as an alter-
native site to Dade and Palm Beach
counties for businesses seeking south
Florida headquariers. By the mid-
1980s, William Farkas felt confident
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eaough in the long term prospects for
downtown redevelopment to announce
that “We've come a long way in seven
vears (since the adoption of the Mas-
terplan of 1977), We're now in the very
visible payofl years,"™ Civic leaders
beligved that the emerging downtown
would give Fort Landerdale an image
as something more than a haven for
retirees and beach kids.®

Im I8R5, the city unveiled its ambi-
tions, multi-million dollar Riversoalk
Plan, which called for revamping n
milelong tract of land along both
banks of New HRiver from the tunmel
at the Federal Highway crossing to the
bridge at Southwest Seventh Avenue.
Major components of Riverwalk would
include a eultural conbor as 1ts western
anchor, arls and science sector, his-
toric district west of the Florida East
Coast Railway tracks, and an enter
tainment plaza on Southwest Fiest
Avenuve {also known as Old Brickell
Avenue). Each of these elements wouald
be located on the north bank of the
river. Several plazas, renovated parks
and ramps, street improvements, and
landseaping at the river's edge, inchad-
ing a long, linear park, represented
other parts of the project, The river
walk itselfl would be designed to tie
together the major components of the
project 58

Riverwalk was envisioned as
means to crente n pedestrian-friendly
area featuring retail elements, such as
push carts and shops, intermixed with
cultural and marine-related facilities,
Planners set 1992 ms the date for
completion of Riverwalk, Financing
wis dependent upon voler approval of
geveral bond issues, Clay Shaw, a
member of the United States House of
Representatives from Fort Lauderdale,
believed that “of all the projects, it's
(Riverwalk) probably going to have the
maost profound effect on the city, It's
Just going to be o fun place to be, and
you ean't say that about many down-
Lown cilies. "™

The “crown jewel” of downtown's
cultural facilities would be a £335
million county performing arts center.
A new Discovery Center, a “hands-on'™
children's mussum, in the arts and
scienea district just east of the perform-
ing arts center represented another
noteworthy facility. With many of its
ecarly twentieth century buildings
wvirtually intact, (0d Brickell Avenue,
farther east, was seen as a aplendid
venue for the entertainment district.®

While planners continued prepora-
tion for the Riverwalk project, down-
town redevelopment continued at a
frenzied pace. By 1986, with the first
wave of office buildings completed,

18,000 persons were working down-
town: the sector’s tax base had risen
in approximately ten years from §130
million to $400 million. & new wave
of buildings followed closely behind
the first surge of construction. New
construction projects during the
second half of the decade ineluded the
giant Barnett Bank complex, First
Fort Lauderdale Plaza, NCHNB Plaza,
Broward Financial Center, and Uni-
versity Tower, which hosted branch
campuses of Broward Community
College, Florida Atlantic University,
and Florida International University,
By the end of the 1980s, these projects
were completed, The accupaney rates
of severnl of the new structures stood
near eighty-five percent, a figure
superior to that for new office buildings
in mearby Dade and Palm Beach
couniies 81

A third wave of downtown highrise
construction began in the waning
months of the 1980z, Major building
projects included the New River Cen-
ter, Capital Bank Center, First Union
Center, and the SunBank Center,
Many of the city's new skyscrapers
bear distinctive architectural styles.
Wreapped in shimmering glasa, these
structures, with their multi-
dimensional facades and pleasing
contours, have brought a signature
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stvle to downtown's burgeoning sky-
line. Az new buildings upen“;s the
number of downtown workers con-
tinued to inerease, By the end of the
188Da, 20000 persons worked in the
quarter, and its tax base continued to
rise in spectacular fashion. Develop
ment on the aouth side of New River
across from downtown also procecded
impressively with several sparkling
buildings rising in the vicinity of the
county courthouse. Broward County's
spiraling growth prompted plans for
another expansion of the courthouse
in the early 159605 52

Downtown's building explosion was
not immediately accompanied by n
boom in pesidential housing in the
sector, although many persons adve
cated such development. Arguing for
the construction of downtown housing
in 1986, City Commissioner Jim
Maugle insisted that, among other
bonefits, downtown residents would
supplant the criminal and hameless
elements that descend on the quarter
after 500 p.m, Naugle believed that by
razing large portions of downtown in
the 1870%, the DDA had inadvertently
caused its post 500 p.m. demise,
Despite the dearth of permanent res.
idents, downtown's dynamic growth
made it the focal point for a bevy of
festivals and events that continue to
bring thousands of persons to the
sector on weekendsg &

Downtown's revitalization has also
led to the strengthening of such inst-
tutions ns the First Baptist Chureh.
While many of the older congregations
in America's downtowns have aban-
doned their ariginal lecations for the
safety and numbers found in the more
affluent suburbg, Fort Lauderdale’s
First Baptist Church has remained on

Downtown Fort Lauderdale’s skyline, 1980, showing numerous
construction projects underway,

East Broward Boulevard ot Northeast
Third Avenue. The decision to remain
has redounded to the congregation's
benefit, since its membership has
increased seven-fold in the 19805, By
1980, the church claimed 9500 mem-
bers. Many of its new congregants
were youthful, The church completed
a 2125 millien expansion in 1990,
adding its impressive new steeple to
the city’s skyline, The success of the
First Baptist Church stems from
strong, inmovative leadership, down-
town's renewed vigor, and the attrac-
tiveness of the congregation and its

L Ciky of Fori Landerdale, Anpasl Bepart, |38 np; Jehn
E Yad, remp., Ford Lasderduie, Fromida, Facia ibeccbkar,
Feri Lasdrrinle, 158, np; George Delanls, “Few Wers
[rmarse From Heilding Bag's Biin,” Foni Lsaderdals Nees
mad SewSmiieet, Macch 30, 19077 Edward F. McHala,
“Nenkw of Amorios = Forl Lasdandals Oy Prospercas
Febiarr Tis AL” Miami Senday Mren, Deeerbar 05, 9
Linited Blates Deparimeat of Comivssce. Populidian
Absrr ol ther 1w b Xlanes JEEE vl DiW aahisgs, D0
T, KE4

2 Amguai Herghardared Phlip Weedlog ¢ ek sived Susbarir
dranrarile, TNHD, BUEE] B i Xinies Dhpammaear
#f LCemmarce, Coasi and dreadens Sorvey (Wapl Mo
Lsssdardale, Scanth Flends, 1949

Carlien Moninyre, “Mardy Says™ Maml fOaly Newws,
Februmry 4, 1900 Haorgherd asd Wesdlizg, Chechored
Henskine, L9

M Ly e, “Mladly Bags,” Miami aily News, Felrmary 35,

S dbi, Mt aff & Meniag of the S0y Cisnonnsbas of he
Cldy o Fori Landerdabs, July 25, 1985, 71 (heresafter sited
wb MOy Florsmes . Haely, “Herber Charlss Davia,
Engiraer,” Now River News, TiAprl 35, 1960 = M4 ~The

FOOTNOTES

location to voung congregants, &

Downtown Fort Lavderdale's future
as the financal and governmental hob
of a dynamic county is assured. Ita
thriving building program assures this
primacy. Though roundly criticized in
its early wears, and victimized by
several setbacks, the DDA has resur
rected and transformed downtown,
assuring Fort Louderdnle and Brow-
ard County of an expanding urban core
highly attractive to investors and
corporations searching for a “mid-
way"” lecation along Florida's Gold
Coast,

Ardrewa Avitgs Hradie A Phots: Histary," New Hivor
Svwa, 10 W ipnse | 0080, B4

& Haady, "Herbaivt Charkes Davis,™ 3 Beghand wrdll Worsd g
Ll kered Sansdiioe 347

T, ANOE, Mlay &, 1had, 15 Sizari B Moiver, Fom Landedals
and Rrowerd Cowaiy, Aa (Nostrateed Histony W oo lard
Blilks, Cabif, 1883, 145

& Demirvirn wilh Emmetl MeTigee by Paal 8. George. Fori
Eaadepdale, Fobsisaiy T, |00

. MO Dpwmbee 07, 185, 31 May & 18468, 16

10 SeTiges Incervies; M. Temoed Tigeke, Wi, | 0ol {7,
IS0, np; B, "liroap o Puash Neew Cassrsay,” Wiamd
Plally Mess, Ccbober 55 B8 Nerghard snd Wedliag
Cherbered Sunabine, TH8, 2 157

11. MOC, Brplember 3, 1945, 13 dansary 7, 1008, 10; Febraary
B 18id EE: March 35, 1984 15 Fierrroe O Hargy, "Cny
Halis,” New Kiver Nrew 8 (4 prl 30, 09857

12 TiverEsirs wib Cerl Fasnagton by Faal 8. Cyorge, March
T. e, Fare Dassberdale MACC. Ovtodeir 8, 1585 14 Hardy,

"Ly Halle,™ 7; MeTigs [niermirs M4 “Hardire Project
Bpara o Wy Laaderilale Doy News, Ociober
4, 1947, Burdme's depamaval sl changol @ name B
~ Haardirem” i iha 1770

14 Farrirgion [ntorvies
14 Hardy, "Cigy Halla™ 1
15 A

18 Monisyre, “Ments Saps,” SMumi [Daiy Neww, Frbrasey 4,
&2

1Y, Berghard aed Weding, d e kered S6 e, T8,

18 Treasmpl of misreees of Babert L Gare, %2 by Asiaik
Ruigkard, ne dele, np. in few af Fari lacderdals
Nisitirird] Bemarly. Cirl L. Bismiller, ~Fort Lasderdals ™
Mabday, T (MNevembee 1950, M MA ~FM Bosadoasta
Sran Wedremday,” Mort Lamdrndale Dally Morew, May 13,
344

19, Adverismanl o ths Fom Lasdivfel Dady Newn, May
D7 10, Y™ Mok 15, 1508, 5 My |8, 185, §4; ST
Ivtersiorn

18 = Broward Legacy



I

e

FF

E2 )

=

Disting ol Bighoclabs in Forg La e be Plaily Norww, March

1, 16

Fori Lawderdale Daily Newn, Blay 1T, 1848 Melver, Fort
Lawderfade asl Mewmand Cimasgy, 153 180, 152

MA . “Fom Lawderdals Farons Formed =~ Miami Plesaid,
Movemdae B 10T BNoA "Fiesd Damags i Udy Lisisd, ™
Miamd Paily News, Novembsr 20, T Molver, Fori
Jawderdaiy and Bresard Comaty, 135 Virgmis 3. Young.
Mangrove Koots of Fari Lasderdale iFori Lasderdale. oo
1978, T Meniayma, “Moaly Saye.” Miemi Daily News,
Ohrilber 17, S

Fhibg Ward and Jolin MasCimmak, “Crfsias Anashed —
Agan,” Miaimi Merald (Nivmard Edfidan, Msvember 17,
1

Henry Kicory, “Fort Lasdsrdals Moilds Far”™ Miemd
Herald July 5. 1940; Reri Calbior, ™ Hroward Coy's Dailder
Faay.” Miaml Mk, Noramier 2 1852

NoA "Fledge of Heaik (sl Gali U'npnd by Commissoner
Barry,” Fon [avdastale Daily News, Agnl 20 1504 “San
mnd Vool Breiars, ” i pherco captioni, Vo Lasdende’s Dasly
Nows, June B 1904; Charls M. Sk, “Sleigs Hessit
Facoes Flonde's Growth,“ Jan sy 19060, arecied seeipa pey
clippesg bm aschives of Hrawasd Cammty Miscarieald
Commisséon; Clan Holfer, “"What's Golng Lip™ Mem
Lapdeniale Maily News, Nevermbor 2 1204

Wl iem B U risied Arcle, Fon b sastarda s Dissiy Sowm,

ol

=

il ESpring 1585 Wesley Biowi, Uniithd Colomn, Fom
Lawderilale Newn. Jonwary 1, 1587, McTiges baiervies

Nan, Upaikad Apile. Fort Lamberdale Daily Hess, oa
Sprag 1858 Fuen, Upoted Column Fanl Lesdendafe
Nvwrw, Janasry 1, 1688657,

CUaplan Eeu Mlenns, "Te The Edaer,” Vol Lasdvenlalr
Daliy Nows, Febuumsry B 10 Wealsy Sicet Ulptided
Cobams, For fasderdaie 5owa, ecembar 1, 1008

=i, BEd Lows, “First Tounsi Hotel Gets Faoe 1ifEag ™ Mem

Lasderdaly Daily News, Decomber 18, 188 A, 50
Millise Fapanson Planned = Mo Lsoderdale Dailly Nean,
darmary 3, 1988 ~Fort Lssdardals Shews Way Out of
Dersniswn Depot Moddis = Miamni Horald deby Htd,

0 [eh Meyar, “Farl Lasdredsis Renring (o off dipan 1snd ~

B

Mymmd Hrrshl, Feberpary 2%, 188, Ward snd Macsmsic,
“Coneas Alacasd” Miami Hreeld (Browsed Editien,
vl |7 150500

William A Muallf, “Forl Lassberdale Dwenloes Sich and
Inferad Affets AIL™ Far Lagdéndile News and Sim-
Fewrnerd, May 30, T N Herdesarnt, = New [ownlown
BEalTha CHTak, ™ Moo Leadendibs Nrwo g Sas Sen el
At 4, VBE], William & Malkn, “They're Palling The
Lipin Ik = Font Faadridile Yemw asd Sas- S sl
Detohwn 1, 196]; Himens 'sepeices huaeiali, &byiee
fare! asd flaned Sorvey of Far Laabades Orgiaal
Towr Famats s 8L Aepascas LB 41

Mo, Uiy Deldven Inda Urban Benessd™ Slamd Jeraki
April &, 1550

Mulkn, “They're Puitmg ihe Up in Dosmicen~ M
Lavderdaly News ard Fan-Sentined Ocicher L, 1861
Bondwrenl, “New Dywabeen” Fond Lasderdafe News sad
San-Seairinl Awgesl 4. 95 MA " Hrowesd News af the
Werek |n Review,” Fori Lasderdsbe San Smined, Novenbar
. 1M

didip Gawelbe, “L'ilsan Herrwal Feperl Eapiciod for Pori
lamdrrlal,” Firt Lasinrbale News, Febmary 16, U84, Pat
Margian EH Ml Herowal Pesprit Giris Foamd " Migme
Ierald, Marqh 5, 1961

Fredl Hareal, "Narghsrd Dkays Felerald Urban Refawsl
Funds,” Ford dsadvrdabe Soead, Hass |7, Pl

Faé Margun, “Herswal Ak Hics Tad of Hoad™™ Mgy
Merald (Areward Fditkers, cw April 1065 N A, "Mavi
Fmps Urban Herawal Fom ® Ford [asderdade Noeww, Agenil
1, I

7 Dem Hpdwell, <83 Milton Complen Usveilsd” Miomi

Merahl, Maerk i0, %5 McTigee Intories, Fermingion
I o, Himbart ¥ Mimerinios Arbiforioral and
Al Spvey, K4l WA, Tt fownme ped Progress
R, (RRT0L, BEA A Deremles: “esvlepmemi (Fod
Laudemdals, KT (hewrhiaie |

MrTiges [nlervsa, Fasvingln lnleves. Trdsnr Hasi
i Arad Progeess Rewies, 1071 B Posnlees Denniep
maend, 1,

Beb Warday, “Rew Uiy Hall Hrirgs Toprtdieimms,™ Fogt
fandrrdaie Meew and Sao Sennns, Feliruary N, 18

0. Miitiwst Propuriirs Asscciaies. Archibecrors) and flisnor:

@

£

i

BT

dohirasn, “Tha Tesn,” Flads Toml, 35 (Falsiwary 19750
4% Johin Hebers, "Ceruss [nSoass Many |serass Fos
Lirban Arvas.” SNew Vord T, Febiraary 1, 180, Merwin
Sk, “Flords Keeps On Growisg B lant Paving e
BIL" Mismi News, (risher & 199560 Locpdas Badripeer
Flarids, “Hisganic lenders Spread the Woed an UX
Coraw.” Fart Lawdrdwde Sus-Senlizel Febmusne 30, 1900
Philip Wanl ~Hrorwaed's Growth Losds Maton * Miamd
Meridid (Brmard Editiond, March &, 1581

WAL “Enatag Falate Swafs Downiesn Porl Lasderdale
rea,” Miams Herakl Augest 30 18010, Lew Lagrien, —Fert
Lavcedates Mlan Sparks Benewad ™ Miani Rerabi, May &
U, Motvn, Fort Lasdwrdale sad Nrossss Cean e 1568

Maige Yarderwplh “Aresds Lifs Deowrdoen Fort Lasd
aelale” Misims Havald, Agril 4. 187)

Aaleigh Slamn, =& Moarosinod Ha bl S peais | ossder Than
» Thommrd Worda,” Miami Herald Hroweed Fditiens,
Angusi 3, Mt

Ralwigh Mans, “Mrw River Corizr Pots o New Light on
Things.” Mismi Herald {Hroward Edéoni. danesry 39,
1¥TE Radeigh Masn, “Fori Lasderdale Mew Ever Conder
Eapnirind b Foxmi Job Hells” Miami Herald ¢Hroward
Fadtioni. Marek 4, 1§73

M. Civie Conter Bording Flas Votnd Dowa,” Sany
dierall. Fibsuary 35, 1970 Ralngh Mann, “Chvic Cmlar
Whas Wil s peii Naw™ S Herskd i Bevwand Editieni
March 4, 1870

Yeousg, Mangrove Bocsts, 83 Sann, “Civie Caner,” M
Herald i(Broward Fdilioni, March & 1973 Jack o,
“Confideren in [ownioen Reflecied in BI85 Mdlian Gere
Mrespaper Propecin,” Edsiorial, Fori Lssderdaie Mreen
March 8 1875

Jodhnn Delirimt, = Pomer = O8d. Mew Caard Shaer 11" Fart
Lapderdule News and Sun-Seolinel, Novernbee &, 1572

Flrve Parier, <1HIA Master Flan Adoplion [ler May 367
Forr Lalirdale News mad Swa-Semtiael May 3=, 1077
Birvr Pashar, “THDA Ralisg High Now, Bl Fasl Failare
Widrids Badne” Pt Laisdpidale News ind SaeSenlisel
Febrasiy 36, 1978

lewaroen Derelopment, U; Parksr, "THLA Bding High =
Fort Lssdardale ¥ows and Sen-sSeanns, Febawan 36, 1877,

. MoA_ Untiibed Articl, Miami Harsdd, Oicficber 24, 1952

-]

B

T

kil

Tadd Massr, ~Fan Lasderdsle's Fuaitiag Peleitial ™ K
fanfardals News, Aprd 72, 19T

Darwid Loy, “Thondlire Moars For Hordines snd [m S
al the Devads’.” Foard Lasderdaie Nowo, Ocicher Ld, 19860
D Ray, “Cosls Moyl s Corardy Prepases For Mawve ic
Hesdines Paddieg.” Miami Wevald (Broward Editient
Felsraary 53, 1663

Tiom Fomearr, “Faiy Lasderdals Worsders Why 11 Has One”
in apnial eemen "Flendss Dheanlewss,” Masm! Herakd
cicker T4, 10 N, Ulndicled Arikeks, Missl Ferskd
Angmat B, 198 FLA, "Officials Toaut Farking Gissgs
With Cols Caps™ Fonl Lsaderdals Nesa, July 71, 168]

David Saiserfisld, “Whare the Buildings Are~ s
Heradd Husiness Monday, Apnl 18, 1598

il

Matie Pbiifawian, “Ambitisss River=alk Plan Cluayel ”
Mani Herald, Dot 4 |38 Sarvm Ginasdi, “Com
Pisberees Poib Farsand o8 Bisers " Fart Lasdpnlale
HanSenning, Depember 4, 1085 MO, May 21, 1888, 0
Forphan d CHiveva, “Riverwall Projem Gearng Lip~ Far
Camdrrdale Sea-Sepciael gl 50 18E7, Hob LaMeadols
THivermalk Propes Manda 312 Milles” Fom Leaivrdales
Han-Saanng, O Plos, Vebawarsy |1, D000 Hab LaWandols
“Hiversalk Moved Pas Tallng M Tosend Fealoy ™
Farr laaderdald Sar-Senites iy Ples, Apad 25 5@

Flfiviers, “Hiversulk,” Fer lsadedale Sas-Sontieed
April B0, 1987

;. LaMemdcla, “Riverwell Fropel,” Fort Lawderdale
Fun-Saiinn, Fobrusey 11, 198k Jadi Link, “Firm Agron:
Tie Firish Ar Canler By Decersioe 31,7 Fiarf Lisadianilale
S Sralinn May 3 |

Elld Peiges. Ustitlel Aisle, Meami Hreadd, Hapiaoss
AMasday, Chmaber 37, 1856 Gerall Davis. “LIgveany
LT " M Hermkil Janaary 20
ERAE; Teaay Malady. “Condiels Sty Fodt Lisdivnlils
St Werkly Fasarm: Sogem, haeembey 5L 1550
daniire Bwja, "Form Lasderialy Plhdges S50 000 Te FALL"
Pt laadrdal Sas-Senlsel Mas § 1p0

A, "l Commenls,” Nor Lesderdals Jhinvlos s
Crownal Pidansary 1F0, 4

L MO, July 18, paee, 3

B

Beeres: Adams, “Sanguiar Charch Sarvices — Firsi Haposi
Mlainisine Tratmion With (penog of Expanmas,~ Fan
Pawdrrdale Spa-Senbizel April 11, 1960,

Swmrrer/Fall 199] = 19



